RECEIVED

Aug 28 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Kristi F. Curtis, Trial Court Judge

---

Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2022-CP-26-06116  
Appellate Court Case No. 2024-000171

---

Flatiron Constructors, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

TranSystems Corporation,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

*/s/ Carter B. Reid*

---

K. Jay Anthony, Esq. (S.C. Bar 77433)  
Anthony Law, LLC  
650 E. Washington Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
janthony@anthonylawsc.com

Mason A. Goldsmith, Jr., Esq. (S.C. Bar # 2182)  
Elmore Goldsmith Kelley & Deholl, P.A.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN TSC'S FAVOR WHERE TSC FAILED TO MEET ITS INITIAL BURDEN TO SHOW UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW THE ABSENCE OF EVIDENCE OF A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT CONCERNING A "SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP" BETWEEN TSC AND FCI?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT, EVEN ASSUMING TSC MET ITS INITIAL BURDEN, FCI MET ITS BURDEN TO OVERCOME SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY PRESENTING EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATING A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT CONCERNING WHETHER A SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP EXISTED BETWEEN TSC AND FCI CONSISTENT WITH SOUTH CAROLINA LAW?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY PREMATURELY DISMISSING CLAIMS ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE DOCUMENT DISCOVERY WAS COMPLETE AND BEFORE ANY DEPOSITIONS HAD BEEN TAKEN?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY MAKING FACTUAL FINDINGS OF AGENCY THAT WERE IMPROPER ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, UNNECESSARY FOR THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING ON NEGLIGENCE, AND ARE UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL TO FCI'S REMAINING CLAIMS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment dismissing Flatiron Construction, Inc.’s (“Appellant” or “FCI”) claim for professional negligence against TranSystems Corporation (“Respondent” or “TSC”). FCI initiated this claim against TSC on April 26, 2018, by filing a complaint in the Trial Court asserting, *inter alia*, a claim for damages incurred in connection with construction of the Carolina Bays Parkway in Horry County, South Carolina (the “Project”). (R. p. 71). FCI asserted that it incurred damages because TSC breached the standard of care applicable to its performance of construction, engineering, and inspection, services (“CEI Services”) for the Project. Among other errors and omissions, FCI alleged that TSC negatively impacted FCI’s performance of work by delaying submittal reviews, imposing unreasonable procedures, giving contradictory assessments from field inspectors, and wrongfully interpreting applicable specifications.

Following jointly requested stays to the litigation and the agreed-upon removal of the case from the active docket pursuant to Rule 40(j), FCI reinstated the litigation on September 27, 2022. (R. p. 12). On April 4, 2023, TSC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking, *inter alia*, dismissal of FCI’s professional negligence claim on the grounds that TSC’s contract with the Project owner, Horry County, did not create a duty of care owed to FCI as the contractor. (R. 141); (R. p. 288). Similarly, TSC asserted that based upon the terms of its CEI contract with Horry County, no “special relationship” between TSC and FCI existed that would impose duties on TSC to FCI actionable in tort. *Id.*, p. 1.

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis heard oral argument on TSC’s MSJ in a virtual proceeding on August 7, 2023 (R. p. 166). On November 22, 2023, the Trial Court entered a Form 4 Order granting TSC’s MSJ in part and dismissing FCI’s negligence claim. (R. p. 15). More specifically, the Trial Court’s Form 4 Order stated, in part, **“I find TranSystems has established that it had no special relationship with Plaintiff [FCI] and owed no duty of care to Plaintiff . . . Defendant’s attorney is to draft a proposed order consistent with its Memo in Support of Summary Judgment....”** *Id.* (emphasis added).

On December 1, 2023, FCI filed a Motion to Reconsider the Trial Court’s Form 4 Order. (R. p. 153); (R. p. 1016). Thereafter, on December 7, 2023, TSC’s counsel submitted to the Trial Court a 25-page proposed order that contained numerous factual and legal errors. (R. p. 17). FCI objected to these same errors in opposing TSC’s MSJ. (R. p. 883 – 886). On December 27, 2023, the Trial Court issued an Order denying FCI’s Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. 68). On the same day, the Trial Court adopted, verbatim, TSC’s Proposed Order (including its errors and omissions), granting partial summary judgment and dismissing FCI’s negligence claim. (R. p. 42).

FCI served its Notice of Appeal on counsel for TSC on January 26, 2023, and filed same with this Court on February 5, 2024. FCI appeals, *inter alia*, the Trial Court’s ruling that TSC established – as a matter of law – that no “special relationship” existed between TSC and FCI for purposes of giving rise to an actionable duty. FCI further appeals the Trial Court’s issuance of summary judgment on a factually driven issue prior to the commencement of deposition discovery and while document discovery is incomplete. The Trial Court’s failure to apply South Carolina precedent, reliance upon inapposite case law from other jurisdictions, and hyperfocus – to the exclusion of all other evidence – upon the terms of Project contracts to determine the existence of a “special relationship” is erroneous as a matter of law and a violation of the standard on summary

judgment. Moreover, the Trial Court’s summary disposition on an issue of fact prior to the completion of discovery that is likely to yield relevant evidence of a “special relationship” is an abuse of its discretion. Finally, the Trial Court’s findings on agency are improper on summary judgment and prejudicial to the claims remaining before the Trial Court.

**STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**  
**-The Project-**

This case involves a complex construction Project in Horry County, South Carolina. On November 7, 2013, the SCDOT, on behalf of Horry County, awarded the contract for construction of the Project to FCI in the amount of \$97,868,087 (R. p. 511). The Project consisted of an extension to the Carolina Bays Parkway portion of South Carolina State Highway 31, including 7.45 miles of road, a main 3,633-ft bridge over the Intercoastal Waterway (“ICWW”), several minor bridges, and associated roadwork. (R. p. 314). The Project was governed by SCDOT’s 2007 Standard Specifications for Highway Construction (“Standard Specifications”). (R. p. 292).

As part of an Intergovernmental Agreement (“IGA”) among Horry County, the South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”), and the South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank, SCDOT provided Project oversight and administration services for the Project, but construction services had to “be obtained from third-party consultants or contractors by or on behalf of the County . . . .” (R. p. 781). On December 15, 2011, Horry County entered into a contract with TSC, under which TSC would provide CEI Services including, but not limited to, construction management, construction engineering, assurance and acceptance inspection, sampling, testing, and construction survey verifications to determine FCI’s compliance with the Construction Contract. (R. p. 807-832). TSC also “assume[d] full, complete and conclusive

liability for all discrepancies, errors or omissions found at any time in the plans or specifications.” (R. p. 820).

The Construction Contract’s substantial completion date was 1,220 calendar days (approximately three years and three months) from the Notice to Proceed (“NTP”). (R. p. 329). FCI began work on the Project in March 2014. (R. p. 81). FCI provided a realistic, achievable schedule for substantially completing the Project within the specified 1,220 calendar-day time period following the NTP. Despite FCI’s efforts, the Project was significantly delayed, and substantial completion was not achieved until 2019, five years after the NTP. (R. p.146).

TSC was SCDOT’s on-site representative for construction engineering and inspection services and, *inter alia*, managed communications between SCDOT and FCI. (R. p. 916-917). In addition, TSC provided contract administration, such as handling FCI’s project submittals, Requests for Information (“RFIs”), schedule updates and change order requests. (R. p. 249). According to TSC, it performed construction administration and supervision, at least in part, as the Project’s Resident Construction Engineer (“RCE”) Representative. (R. p. 950).

#### **-The Complaint-**

On April 18, 2018, FCI filed a lawsuit against TSC due to its extensive maladministration and negligent supervision of the Project. FCI amended its complaint on May 10, 2018, which included four causes of action against TSC, namely, negligence (Count 1); breach of contract (Count 2); tortious interference (Count 3); and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”) (Count 4). (R. p. 81-91). With regard to TSC’s maladministration and negligence, by way of example, FCI alleged that “TranSystems delayed the review and approval of Flatiron submittals and added submittal review procedures not contemplated by the Specification[s], thereby causing delays to Flatiron’s work and resulting in additional costs . . . .”

(R. p. 83-84). In addition, FCI alleged that TSC “substantially impeded Flatiron’s progress of the Project by instituting unreasonable inspection protocols not contemplated by the Specification[s], directing changes to means and methods, and directing changes to plans and specifications.” (R. p. 85-86).

Among other actions or failures to act, FCI asserts that TSC negatively impacted and/or impeded FCI’s work by and through: (i) delaying submittal reviews; (ii) excessive submittal revision requests; (iii) differing opinions and arguments amongst TSC field inspectors; (iv) unorthodox and non-industry standard inspection procedures; (v) erroneously interpreting specifications that impacted FCI’s means and methods; (vi) mandating unreasonable standards beyond industry standard, specified tolerances, and contract requirements; and (vii) imposing excessive timeframes for critical decision making. (R. p.847-854).

FCI supported its Amended Complaint with the Affidavit of Kenneth J. O’Connell, P.E. (R. p. 212-217). Mr. O’Connell is a Registered Professional Engineer with over thirty-five (35) years of experience, including “providing construction consulting, engineering and inspection services to public owners for the construction of bridge and roadway projects throughout the United States.” (R. p. 212). Based upon Project documentation made available to him, Mr. O’Connell found, among other failures, that “[TSC] fell below the standard of care of a civil engineering firm in providing CEI Services and was negligent . . . in failing to review submittals in [a] timely manner so as not to impede the progress of the construction activities . . . [and] failing to follow the project specifications regarding Drill Shaft Foundation Plans.” (R. p. 215).

**-The Case is Stayed for Two Years While FCI’s  
Claims Against the Owner are Resolved-**

When FCI originally initiated litigation against TSC, the Project had not yet reached

substantial or final completion. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Construction Contract and applicable specifications, FCI was obligated to pursue certain administrative remedies with regard to Project claims against SCDOT and/or Horry County, including a Dispute Resolution Board (“DRB”) process. (R. p. 412). As such, and for a number of reasons, the Parties agreed to stay the litigation while the DRB process with Horry County and SCDOT proceeded.

The litigation between FCI and TSC was first stayed in response to a request from SCDOT that “both parties stay this litigation pending SCDOT’s agency evaluation and review of claims asserted.” (R. p. 92). On November 22, 2019, the Parties moved to extend the stay until September 30, 2020. (R. p. 95). The Trial Court granted the request on November 26, 2019. (R. p. 3).

The DRB processes on certain of FCI’s Project claims were completed, and settlement agreements finalized between FCI and Horry County/SCDOT by September 22, 2020. (R. p. 844). FCI’s remaining Project claims against Horry County/SCDOT proceeded to DRB thereafter, and a final settlement was not achieved until June, 2023. (R. p. 1033).

**-The Stay is Lifted, and the Parties Begin Discovery-**

The stay expired on September 30, 2020, and discovery commenced promptly thereafter. (R. p. 3). In that regard, on October 19, 2020, FCI issued its First Request for Production of Documents to TSC. (R. p. 124-131). On November 13, 2020, TSC answered the Amended Complaint. (R. p. 99-105). On November 19, 2020, TSC filed a Motion to Stay and a Motion for Protective Order seeking relief from responding to FCI’s discovery requests. (R. p. 106-118); (R. p. 221); (R. p. 261). The Trial Court denied TSC’s Motion to Stay on April 14, 2021. (R. p. 8).

As part of its efforts to progress discovery, on January 11, 2021, FCI moved to compel TSC to respond to discovery, including FCI’s First Requests for Production of Documents that were propounded to TSC on October 19, 2020. (R. p. 119). The Trial Court granted FCI’s Motion

to Compel on April 9, 2021. (R. p. 5). TSC began producing its documents on June 30, 2021. (R. p. 1117). Of course, the scale of document production on a 5-year, \$100 million project is enormous, and the Parties have long agreed that discovery in this case “will involve discovery from multiple companies, various government agencies, and numerous experts.” (R. p. 132). Further, the Parties agreed that depositions need to be taken of “over twenty (20)” witnesses. (R. p. 134-135). To date, document discovery has not yet concluded, and, as such, no depositions have been taken in this matter. (R. p. 887).

**-The Parties Removed the Case from the Active Docket but Continued Discovery-**

Due to the scale and complexity of the dispute, on October 4, 2021, FCI and TSC jointly moved for a complex case designation. (R. p. 132). The Trial Court denied the joint motion. (R. p. 10). As a result, the Parties promptly filed a consent order pursuant to Rule 40(j), removing the case from the docket. (R. p. 138). While the case was on the docket, the Parties diligently collected and produced relevant Project documents. Indeed, between the expiration of the stay on September 30, 2020, and the case’s removal under SCRCPC 40(j) on October 11, 2021, the Parties exchanged 452,317 documents totaling 1,618,310 pages.

Following the removal of the case from the docket, FCI and TSC continued to discuss the needed discovery and collectively exchanged an additional 78,336 documents totaling 363,769 pages. On February 17, 2022, TSC notified FCI that TSC had discovered a group of approximately 25,000 documents responsive to FCI’s discovery requests that had not yet been produced. (R. p. 1043). At that time, TSC informed FCI that it was “reviewing this new group of documents and [would] supplement [its] responses accordingly, probably within the next month . . . .” *Id.* On September 22, 2022, FCI moved to restore the case to the active docket. (R. p. 140). The Trial Court ordered the case to be restored on September 27, 2022. (R. p. 12). Despite FCI’s requests,

TSC had not yet produced the 25,000 documents referenced in its February 17, 2022, email by the time the case was reinstated on September 27, 2022.

**-TSC's Motion for Summary Judgment and Additional Document Production-**

On April 4, 2023, TSC filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 141). TSC, in relevant part, argued that TSC owed no duty of care to FCI because TSC's contract with Horry County created no such duty. (R. p. 295-304). In support of its MSJ, TSC provided a single affidavit from Peter Strub, a TSC Senior Vice President and Principal, stating that TSC never "prepared, signed, or sealed any design plans for the project." (R. p. 835). Mr. Strub also purported to explain TSC's contract with Horry County, noting that "[TSC's] work . . . was limited to Construction, Engineering, Inspection, and Testing services, which were subject to final review and approval by the Resident Construction Engineer." (R. p. 835).

On July 28, 2023, FCI filed its Opposition to TSC's MSJ. (R. p. 881-914). FCI argued, in relevant part, that TSC had a "special relationship" with FCI, creating an extra-contractual duty in tort not to negligently design or supervise the Project. *Id.* FCI's Opposition was supported by the affidavits of Louis Hutcherson and Linda Brumfield. (R. p. 915-925). Mr. Hutcherson served initially as an FCI Project Engineer and later as a Project Manager on the Project. (R. p. 916). Linda Brumfield was FCI's Vice President, Divisional Finance, and provided business records in support of FCI's Opposition to TSC's MSJ. (R. p. 923).

From his personal experience on the Project, Mr. Hutcherson testified that "Martin Long of TSC held himself out as [SCDOT's] Resident Construction Engineer ('RCE')," and that throughout the Project, TSC exercised considerable control over communications, oversight, and acceptance or rejection of FCI's work. (R. p. 916-918). Mr. Hutcherson also recounted that TSC "wielded substantial influence and power over FCI and impacted the progression and completion

of FCI's work on the Project" (R. p. 918). Further, Mr. Hutcherson testified that during his time on the Project, TSC had the "right to reject or stop FCI's work," which "TSC repeatedly exercised . . . ." (R. p. 918-919). Mr. Hutcherson also testified that TSC oversaw FCI's construction activities (R. p. 917), coordinated and processed pay applications (R. p. 917), inspected and rejected FCI's work (R. p. 918), and stopped FCI's work (R. p. 918-919).

Mr. Hutcherson possessed first-hand knowledge of myriad issues that arose from TSC's negligent performance of its contract administration and supervision responsibilities. For example, Mr. Hutcherson testified that TSC: rejected compliant work, which led to Project delays; delayed the review of critical submittals, preventing the commencement of FCI's drilled shaft activities; refused to inspect rebar or point out supposed construction errors, thereby preventing FCI from proceeding with work; and rejected work based upon erroneous interpretations of Project specifications. (R. p. 918-921). Mr. Hutcherson recalled that TSC often made poor decisions in the field that negatively impacted FCI's progress, unilaterally, and without any prior consultation with SCDOT. (R. p. 918).

The documents exhibited to the Brumfield Affidavit corroborate the Hutcherson Affidavit and provide further examples of TSC's control over FCI's performance and negligent supervision of the Project. For example, Exhibit 1 to the Brumfield Affidavit provides evidence that Mr. Long controlled communications between FCI and SCDOT and held up processing a critical submittal for 44 days because he failed to properly manage his own email account. (R. p. 926); (R. p. 919-920). Exhibit 3 to the Brumfield Affidavit includes an FCI Notice of Potential Claim from October 18, 2016, outlining "enhanced specifications, inspection and testing requirements . . . materially different than that specified in the Contract Documents," and several "disruptions, delays and increased costs [sic] delays" attributable to TSC's negligent work on the Project. (R. p. 934).

Moreover, the Brumfield Affidavit presented evidence showing that TSC's Mr. Long held himself out as the RCE for the Project, including, for example, minutes of meetings between SCDOT, Horry County, TSC, FCI and other parties signed by Mr. Long as the "Resident Construction Engineer." (R. p. 927, 936-941). In addition, Exhibit 6 to the Brumfield affidavit is an organizational chart produced by TSC titled the "SCDOT/TRANSYSTEMS ORGANIZATIONAL CHART" in which TSC's Mr. Long is given the title "RCE" with no SCDOT employee retaining that title. (R. p. 942). Significantly, pursuant to the Specifications, the RCE possessed extensive rights to exercise control over the Project, namely the right to: "decide all questions that may arise regarding the quality and acceptability of materials furnished, the work performed, the rate of progress of the work, etc. (R. p. 973); "suspend the work . . . for failure to carry out orders of the RCE" (R. p. 973); determine construction requirements (R. p. 973); direct FCI to perform certain work (§ 105.7); cause work to be corrected "upon failure to comply immediately with any order of the RCE" (§ 105.11); and accept or reject Work (§ 105.15.1). These rights are amended and expanded upon in the Construction Contract to include the right to: receive certain documentation from FCI, including for RCE approval (R. pp. 324-325, 331, 338, 346, 356, 360, 384, 440, 444); suspend work (R. p. 328); determine the date of substantial completion (R. p. 328); charge FCI for liquidated damages (R. p. 328); conduct testing and sampling for approval or rejection (R. p. 334, 352, 384, 442); determine the necessity of certain work (R. pp. 353, 360, 432, 434); approve written claims to initiate the claims procedure (R. p. 412); negotiate punch list timelines with FCI (R. p. 420); and direct FCI to perform certain Work (R. p. 441).

TSC filed its Reply on August 2, 2023. (R. p. 950). The Trial Court held a hearing on TSC's MSJ (the "SJ Hearing") on August 7, 2023. (R. p. 166-211). At the SJ Hearing, FCI

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