**RECEIVED**

**Aug 27 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis  
Case No.: 2022-CP-26-06116

Appellate Case No. 2024-000171

Flatiron Constructors, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

TranSystems Corporation,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**WILKES ATKINSON & JOYNER, LLC**

Michael B. T. Wilkes (S.C. Bar #6107)

[mwilkes@wajlawfirm.com](mailto:mwilkes@wajlawfirm.com)

C. Daniel Atkinson (S.C. Bar #72721)

[datkinson@wajlawfirm.com](mailto:datkinson@wajlawfirm.com)

James Alexander Joyner (S.C. Bar #101771)

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

3. Appellant argues, patently incorrectly, that TranSystems assumed the role of SCDOT's RCE. (R. pp. 890-892.) As noted in Section II, *supra*, there is no issue of material fact as to that issue, and the Trial Court properly found there to be no genuine issue of material fact as to whether TranSystems acted as SCDOT's RCE. (R. pp. 54-55; *see also* Argument Section II, *supra*.)

4. Appellant incorrectly argues that TSC's interaction with Appellant on the Project creates a tort duty. (R. pp. 892-893.) It is unclear how this differs from Appellant's argument regarding TranSystems' duties under the TSC Contract, because all of TranSystems' interactions were based on its obligations under the TSC Contract. In fact, Appellant has not identified any facts in opposition to TranSystems' Motion for Summary Judgment indicating that TranSystems ever acted outside of the scope of the TSC Contract. Appellant merely argues that TranSystems did the work in its scope too-stringently or over-zealously. This does not create a tort duty.

Other than incorrectly asserting that *Tommy L. Griffin I* is the same fact pattern as this case and therefore creates a tort duty owed by TranSystems to Appellant, Appellant has not introduced any facts sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of any duty owed by TranSystems to Appellant. Accordingly, the Trial Court's finding should be affirmed.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT APPELLANT WAIVED OBJECTIONS TO AN ALLEGEDLY-PREMATURE RULING BY FAILING TO REQUEST ANY DISCOVERY OR FILE ANY MOTION SEEKING A DELAY IN RULING PRIOR TO THE HEARING ON TRANSYSTEMS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

Appellant incorrectly argues that *Baughman v. Am. Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991), a thirty-three year old case, requires this Court to find that the Trial Court prematurely granted partially summary judgment to TranSystems. This Court very recently has elaborated on that opinion in *Covil Corp. v. Pennsylvania National Mutual Insurance Co.*, 436

S.C. 85, 870 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App. 2022), noting that a party arguing that summary judgment is premature must demonstrate that additional discovery would uncover additional, relevant evidence. *Id.* at 92, 870 S.E.2d at 195. In *Covil*, this Court properly recognized that Rule 56, SCRPC, requires a party opposing summary judgment to rely not merely on allegations of pleadings but to provide evidence, by affidavit or as otherwise allowed under the rule, to set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Id.*, *citing* Rule 56(e), SCRPC. There, the trial court granted summary judgment filed less than two months after the plaintiff filed an initial complaint. *Id.* at 89-90, 870 S.E.2d at 193-4. As the *Covil* court noted, the appropriate means of doing so is the filing of an affidavit, allowed under Rule 56(f), SCRPC, stating the evidence likely to be obtained with further discovery. Appellant failed to do so in this case, until a full four months after oral argument on the hearing at issue. (R. p. 1124.)

Further, Appellant incorrectly argues that the Trial Court relied solely on cases where discovery deadlines had elapsed. This argument completely ignores the Trial Court's reference to *Matter of Estate of Smith*, 419 S.C. 111, 796 S.E.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2016), which is the central case cited in support of the denial of delay. In that case, the Court of Appeals affirmed a grant of summary judgment to a defendant, where, unlike in this case, the opposing counsel had actually scheduled depositions of witnesses at the time of the hearing, and where the counsel opposing summary judgment had presented a motion for continuance at the hearing on the motion. *Id.* at 114-5, 796 S.E.2d at 159-60. In concurrence with the Court of Appeals' ruling, Judge Few noted that Rule 56(f), SCRPC, "provides parties an easy mechanism for notifying the circuit court in advance of a scheduled hearing of the party's need for additional time in which to complete discovery before defending a motion for summary judgment." *Id.* at 120, 796 S.E.2d at 162 – 163 (Few, A.J., concurring). "When a party seeks additional time, but fails to comply with the Rule

setting forth the procedure for requesting additional time, an appellate court should be very hesitant to say the trial court abused its discretion in denying the request.” *Id.* at 120-21, 796 S.E.2d at 163 (Few, A.J., concurring). Appellant challenges the ability to rely on the Few concurrence as persuasive authority, despite the fact that the majority (made up of Judge Few and Judge Konduros), affirmed summary judgment, despite the nonmoving party formally seeking additional time via a motion for continuance. Ironically, Appellant argues that Judge Lockemy’s dissent requires equal persuasive authority. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 45 – 46, FN 6.) In Judge Lockemy’s dissent, he seems to acknowledge that Rule 56(f), SCRCF, requires affidavits explaining the need for further testimony, where, as in this case, the nonmoving party submits affidavits opposing the motion for summary judgment. *Id.* at 123, 796 S.E.2d at 164 (Lockemy, C.J. dissenting). Further, the Lockemy dissent noted that the Court of Appeals repeatedly affirmed denials of requests for further discovery, where the requests came a year or more after cases were filed. *Id.* at 123-24, S.E.2d at 164-65 (Lockemy, C.J., dissenting.) Finally, the Lockemy dissent centered on the pending noticed depositions at the time of the summary judgment hearing in the *Estate of Smith* case, and there were no such pending depositions in this case. *Id.* Even the Lockemy dissent supports a denial of further discovery in this case.

In this case, the issues related to duty and agency would have been representations by SCDOT to Appellant, within Appellant’s control, as well as Appellant’s communications with TranSystems and Appellant’s employee’s interactions with TranSystems, all of which are within Appellant’s control. In the four months that the Motion for Summary Judgment was pending, Appellant was free to notice depositions, serve additional requests or subpoenas, or to file an affidavit telling the Trial Court what additional discovery it needed to complete to fully respond; however, Appellant did none of those things. It should not now argue the Trial Court abused its

discretion in ruling, when it failed to notify the Trial Court of additional discovery in a manner explicitly provided in the Rules. *See* Rule 56(f), SCRCP.

Appellant offers no authority for its argument that a trial court must consider a Rule 56(f) affidavit submitted four months after the hearing at issue, and eleven days after the filing of a Motion to Reconsider, in part, because it is a ridiculous proposition. “A party cannot use a motion to reconsider to present an issue he could have raised prior to judgment but did not.” *Anderson Mem. Hosp., Inc. v. Hagen*, 313 S.C. 497, 498, 443 S.E.2d 399, 400 (Ct. App. 1994). Extended to another degree, a party cannot use a brief in opposition to a motion to strike a motion to reconsider to present an issue he could have presented both prior to judgment and at a motion to reconsider but did not. *Id.* In fact, Appellant failed to offer an affidavit pursuant to Rule 56(f) until five days after TranSystems noted that Appellant failed to avail itself of the procedure available under Rule 56(f), SCRCP. (R. p. 158.) There is no reasonable basis whereby the Trial Court should be required to reopen a decision four months after oral argument to address a patently untimely affidavit filed by Appellant.

**V. APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW ANY ISSUES RELATED TO TRANSYSTEMS’ OBTAINING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT’S CLAIMS FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT BY THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY.**

Appellant does not raise any specific objection to the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment on the cause of action for breach of contract by third party beneficiary. “Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not raised in the statement of issues on appeal.” Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *see Brown v. Odom*, 425 S.C. 420, 436, 823 S.E.2d 183, 191 (Ct. App. 2019) (FN 5) (noting issue is unpreserved if appellant failed to include that issue in statement of issues on appeal).

Even if the issue were preserved and argued, the Trial Court properly granted the Motion as to this cause of action. TranSystems presented affidavit testimony from Peter Strub, who executed the TSC Contract for TranSystems, stating that he never considered Appellant to be a third party beneficiary of the TSC Contract. (R. p. 835.) It is undisputed that Appellant was not a party to the TSC Contract.

“The [typical] elements for a breach of contract are the existence of a contract, its breach, and damages caused by such breach.” *Hotel and Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enters., LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 652, 780 S.E.2d 263, 272 (Ct. App. 2015). “The presumption that [a] contract is not enforceable by a [non-party to the contract] may be overcome [only] by showing that [the non-party] was intended to be the direct beneficiary of the contract.” *See Touchberry v. City of Florence*, 295 S.C. 47, 48-9, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988). “Generally, one not in privity of contract with another cannot maintain an action against him in breach of contract, and any damage resulting from the breach of contract between the defendant and a third party is not, as such, recoverable by the plaintiff.” *Bob Hammond Const. Co. v. Banks Const. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 424, 440 S.E.2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1994). “[Only] if a contract is made for the benefit of a third [party], may [that third party] enforce the contract[, and the third party can only enforce the contract] if [both] of the contracting parties intended to create a direct, rather than an incidental or consequential, benefit to such third [party].” *Id.* Stated directly, “[a] third-party beneficiary is a party that the contracting parties intended to **directly** benefit.” *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005) (emphasis added). Courts look to the terms of the contracts under which parties assert third-party beneficiary status, to determine if there is an intended third-party beneficiary, but they review the at-issue contract in its entirety, rather than relying on select phrases out of context. *See Beverly v. Grand Strand Reg. Med. Ctr., LLC*, 435 S.C. 594, 599-600, 869

S.E.2d 812, 815 (2022) (holding operative terms of Institutional Agreement clearly indicate intent to provide insureds with a direct benefit). For example, our courts have recognized named beneficiaries in a will to be intended third-party beneficiaries of a contract to draft a will, noting that the primary purpose of a contract to draft a will is to benefit the named beneficiaries of that will. *Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 488-9, 765 S.E.2d 132, 139-40 (2014).

The plain, unambiguous language of the Project Contracts demonstrate that neither Horry County nor TranSystems intended for Appellant to be a direct beneficiary of the TSC Contract, and TranSystems has produced affirmative evidence that Appellant was not and is not a third-party beneficiary of the TSC Contract. (See R. pp. 834-835.) “The construction of a contract [or contracts] is a matter of law.” *Beverly v. Grand Strand Reg’l Med. Ctr., LLC*, 435 S.C. 594, 604, 869 S.E.2d 812, 817 (2022). As a matter of law, this is an appropriate matter for redress through a Motion for Summary Judgment. See Rule 56, SCRPC. Based on the absence of contrary evidence, the Trial Court properly granted summary judgment as to this cause of action.

## **VI. APPELLANT HAS IMPERMISSIBLY RAISED NEW ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL WHICH WERE NOT PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT.**

To be considered and ruled upon in an appeal:

The losing party [in the trial court, the appellant,] must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.

*I’On, LLC, supra*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. In Section V of its argument, Appellant contends that the Trial Court erroneously found that TranSystems was an agent of Horry County. (Initial Appellate Brief, pp. 46 – 47.) TranSystems argued this position at summary judgment. (R. p. 294; see also p. 814 (requiring TranSystems to indemnify Horry County for liability it creates

for Horry County); p. 825.) Appellant did not oppose this position by presenting any facts to show that TranSystems was not Horry County's agent.<sup>8</sup> Although Appellant argued that agency is normally a question of fact, it presented no admissible facts to contradict TranSystems' evidence offered. Appellant's objection to a finding that TranSystems was an agent of SCDOT was based on the absence of a contract between SCDOT and TranSystems. (R. pp. 908-909.) By contrast, the record contains the TSC Contract, which clearly authorized TranSystems to take certain actions on behalf of Horry County. Appellant neither presented facts to contest the TSC Contract, nor did it argue a lack of agency between TranSystems and Horry County. Further, it did not move to reconsider that issue. Appellant neither raised the issue of agency status as to Horry County, nor did it obtain a ruling on that issue. Accordingly, Appellant cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

---

<sup>8</sup> In its Brief in Opposition, Appellant contested that TranSystems was SCDOT's agent, but it offers no affidavits or other evidence to contest TranSystems' status as agent of Horry County. (R. p. 183, lines 4-25 (Atkinson discussing agency issue); pp. 204-205 (Reid contesting agency as to SCDOT.) By contrast, TranSystems presented the TSC Contract, which designated the scope of services for which TranSystems was to act on Horry County's behalf. (R. pp. 805-832.)

## CONCLUSION

The Trial Court properly performed its duty under *Tommy L. Griffin I*, by making a fact specific inquiry to determine whether TranSystems owed any tort duty to Appellant. Given the complexity of the project, the number of parties, and the amount of money involved, the applicable contracts must provide the initial delineation of duties. The Trial Court properly held that, based on the limits of TranSystems' authority under the Standard Specifications, as well as the clear authority of the SCDOT RCE, TranSystems owed no tort duty to Appellant.


Our Supreme Court has held that "whether ... a duty exists [between a design professional and a third party] will depend on the facts and circumstances of each case." *Tommy L. Griffin I*, 320 S.C. at 55-56, 463 S.E.2d at 89. Appellant's entire appellate argument is built upon the flawed premise that *Tommy L. Griffin I* mandates a finding that TranSystems owes tort duties to Appellant. In reality, there appears to be no South Carolina case interpreting whether a design professional providing CEI services to an owner owes any tort duty to a third-party contractor. Accordingly, *Tommy L. Griffin I* merely mandates that a trial court evaluate the facts and circumstances of this specific case and determine whether TranSystems had actionable duties to and Appellant.

In this case, the Trial Court evaluated the admissible evidence concerning whether TranSystems had actionable duties to Appellant, and it properly found that TranSystems owed no such duties to Appellant, largely because TranSystems' owed duties to its client, Horry County, and to the general public to meticulously observe and inspect the work done by Appellant and report to SCDOT. Had the Trial Court found that TranSystems did owe a duty, it would have created a conflict of interest impermissible under the Rules of Professional Conduct for Engineers. Appellant failed to create any genuine issue of material fact as to whether TranSystems assumed an actionable duty, or as to who held the title of RCE for SCDOT. Appellant waived any review of the grant of summary judgment as to Appellant's cause of action for breach of contract by third-

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